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® (1600)
[English]

The Chair (The Honourable Marc Garneau (Notre-Dame-de-
Grace—Westmount, Lib.)): We will now begin with 30 minutes
on receiving witnesses with respect to proposed legislation Bill
C-29.

We have with us this afternoon for the first half hour, and they
will stay on for the hour when the minister will join them, Mr.
Andy Garrow, director, policy and strategic direction, reconciliation
secretariat, planning and partnerships; Ms. Kate Ledgerwood, di-
rector general, policy and strategic direction, also from the recon-
ciliation secretariat; and Ms. Seetal Sunga, senior counsel from the
Department of Justice.

To ensure an orderly meeting, I would like to outline the usual
rules. Members and witnesses may speak in the official language of
their choice. Interpretation services in English, French and Inuktitut
are available for the first part of today's meeting. Please be patient
with the interpretation. There may be a delay. For those in the video
conference, the interpretation button is found at the bottom of your
screen. It's the interpretation globe, and you can listen in English,
French or Inuktitut, if you choose. If interpretation is lost, please in-
form me immediately and we will ensure interpretation is properly
restored before we continue.

Before speaking, please wait until I recognize you by name. If
you are on the video conference, please click on the microphone
icon to unmute yourself. For those in the room, of course, your mi-
crophone is controlled by the proceedings and verification officer.
When speaking please speak slowly and clearly, and when you're
not speaking, please put your mike on mute. This is a reminder that
all comments should be addressed through the chair.

We're going to launch immediately into questions. We'll have six
minutes for each of the four parties.

If I'm not mistaken, I believe, Mr. Vidal, you will be starting as
the first speaker for six minutes. Please go ahead.

Mr. Gary Vidal (Desnethé—Missinippi—Churchill River,
CPC): Thank you, Chair.

Thank you, folks, for being here today. I think most of you were
on the technical briefing the other night, if I can remember the
faces in the checkerboard instead of in person. I appreciate the oth-
er night as well.

I want to go through a little bit of timing, and I want you to help
me out with a couple of things to make sure I understand. If I'm

clear, the government announced the creation of an interim board of
directors in December 2017. That was through a Governor in Coun-
cil appointment, which would be directed by cabinet. This interim
board that was appointed at that time did their work and issued a
final report to the then-minister on June 12, 2018, with 20 fairly
specific recommendations.

In the technical briefing the other night, you indicated that these
recommendations were the basis for the draft legal framework,
which ultimately ended up in Bill C-29 now.

It appears that the vast majority of the work was already done by
June 2018 to create this council. That was when the work hap-
pened, but not until December 2021 did the minister actually take
that next step, as advised by the interim board and the report, to ap-
point the transitional committee members. Finally, in March 2022,
the final recommendations of that group were given back to the
minister to go ahead and finalize the legislation.

My first question is simply this: Is that an accurate time frame?
Have I understood that well?

® (1605)

Mr. Andy Garrow (Director, Policy and Strategic Direction,
Reconciliation Secretariat, Planning and Partnerships, Depart-
ment of Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern Affairs):
That's correct.

Mr. Gary Vidal: Thank you.

Could you tell me what happened between June 2018 and De-
cember 2021? My understanding is that there was nothing done in
that three and a half year period to advance this process. Can you
tell me why or why not that was the case?

Mr. Andy Garrow: In that period of time, the department under-
took its analysis of the recommendations that were provided by the
interim board and provided that analysis to the government, and re-
ally did a thorough review of what was provided. The interim board
in that period of time did extensive engagement with their work and
came up with really sound recommendations in terms of where they
should move forward. That analysis took some time.

Also in terms of what the next steps were, there was the recom-
mendation for establishing a transitional committee and determin-
ing the process for that. In the meantime, that's when the pandemic
came as well. That delayed efforts significantly, as well as identify-
ing who was going to be on the transitional committee. There were
some delays in that process.
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Mr. Gary Vidal: No, I appreciate that but, sorry, we use COVID
as an excuse or the pandemic as an excuse, but the time frame was
June 2018 and the pandemic didn't start until March of 2020. That's
18 months, almost two years in the meantime, and really the next
steps were already identified. The report on June 12, 2018, indicat-
ed the next step was to appoint the transitional committee.

I'm not quite following all this work that was supposedly done in
the three and a half years. It seems to me from your technical brief-
ing, honestly, the presentation, it's pretty clear that things just
paused and then picked up again in December of 2021.

I will leave that one for now and I'll move on to something dif-
ferent because I think my assumptions on that seem to be fairly ac-
curate.

On call to action 56, we've had this conversation a couple of
times over the last few weeks already. Call to action 56 explicitly
calls on the Prime Minister to answer the national council for rec-
onciliation's annual report by providing a response. This interim
board of directors that issued these 20 recommendations back in
June of 2018 also advised that this should be the process, yet ac-
cording to the bill it's the minister who would respond to the na-
tional council's annual report.

Can you tell me how this happened and who made the decision
not to respect that call to action and have the minister respond in-
stead of the Prime Minister?

Mr. Andy Garrow: For that one, the minister was bringing for-
ward the legislation and in that process it was determined that the
minister responsible for the legislation would be the appropriate
person to table the responses as identified in the legislation.

Mr. Gary Vidal: The minister made that decision on his own.
That wasn't something recommended by any of the transitional
committee people or the department officials?

Mr. Andy Garrow: It came out through the drafting of the legis-
lation process.

Mr. Gary Vidal: From the minister...?
Mr. Andy Garrow: Through the process...yes.
Mr. Gary Vidal: Thank you.

In the legislation there's some language that I struggle with, and
I'm going to be quick because I think I'm running out of time.

There's some language in the purpose that talks about the pur-
pose of this bill is to “advance efforts for reconciliation”. I'm an ac-
countant. I'm all about measurable outcomes and numbers and data
and that kind of thing. Can you give me any indication of whether
there have been discussions at all in this journey of four and a half
years about how we would measure the success of advancing ef-
forts for reconciliation?

Ms. Kate Ledgerwood (Director General, Policy And Strate-
gic Direction, Reconciliation Secretariat, Department of
Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern Affairs): Perhaps I'll
say that as we have been developing this and working very closely
with the transitional committee, one of the directions that we have
received is very much to provide the frame but to let the board
make some of these determinations once it's formed. It is there that
it can make the determination in the future on the scope. I think it is

better placed than perhaps us determining what is to be advanced
around reconciliation.

While this bill is there to provide the frame, we understand and
appreciate that there will be much more work once the board —

Mr. Gary Vidal: I'm sorry. I appreciate that but the legislation
says “advance efforts” and I think it could really just say “advance
reconciliation”. We want to move forward on advancing reconcilia-
tion. I don't think we can measure efforts in this context, and I think
we heard that from some of the people on the transitional commit-
tee and the interim board of directors who said this language was
pretty weak.

That's kind of somewhere we'll be going in the future.

Thank you, Chair.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Vidal.

We'll now go to Ms. Atwin.

Mrs. Jenica Atwin (Fredericton, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Thank you to our witnesses for being here today.

I just want to take the opportunity to acknowledge that we did
just have the second National Day for Truth and Reconciliation. I
want to just acknowledge survivors and descendants from my rid-
ing, and of course, across Atlantic Canada and throughout the na-
tion. I was fortunate enough to attend a ceremony. It was anticipat-
ed that 50 people would be there and there were hundreds of peo-
ple. I think that speaks to the important work that's being undertak-
en and how effective it is at communicating just how critical it is
for all of us to walk this road of reconciliation.

I want to point out that there have been several organizations and
self-governing first nations who have voiced concerns about, per-
haps, a lack of consultation for the legislation and the national
council. They might feel left out of the process.

Could you please elaborate on the consultation process that the
interim board undertook to advise on what the national council for
reconciliation would look like and just how important it is to in-
clude indigenous voices every step of the way? Thank you.

® (1610)

Mr. Andy Garrow: We're looking at this in terms of what's hap-
pened over the years from the Truth and Reconciliation Commis-
sion to now. In that process, the Truth and Reconciliation Commis-
sion travelled across the country with the national events, the com-
munity events and the regional events that were part of that process
and heard from thousands of survivors, thousands of community
members and those impacted by residential schools.
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That was one thing and that created the framework of what went
into call to action 53, which is what's been established for the na-
tional council for reconciliation. After that the interim board also
held engagement, so they established a public website so that any
interested individuals across Canada could share their thoughts on
the national council for reconciliation. They did some outreach to
the national indigenous organizations and then they also hosted an
event where a number of experts came in.

Then with the transitional committee, noting that it was time for
the legislation to move forward, they wanted to move forward with
this as quickly as possible. They also did some engagement as well
but with targeted experts on the framework of legislation and what
would be in there.

Mrs. Jenica Atwin: Would either of you like to add anything to
that? No...?

Were there any lessons learned throughout that process that you
could maybe speak to that might be helpful for our committee?

Mr. Andy Garrow: This is a really broad council that we're es-
tablishing. There are a number of people who are going to be im-
pacted by it. I think over time—and we're seeing this in a number
areas—whether it's the level of engagement that's happening across
the countries on issues or.... There's a lot happening because of that.

With what's happened here, we're grateful for the experts who
came and brought their voices to the table. We're grateful for the
leadership that the Truth and Reconciliation Commission has
shown, and the interim board members and the transitional commit-
tee members. | think they have created a solid framework, which
we see in the legislation today.

Mrs. Jenica Atwin: Could you also speak more broadly about
what the reconciliation secretariat does? I'm curious and excited to
learn more about it.

Ms. Kate Ledgerwood: Thank you very much for the question.

The reconciliation secretariat, which is situated within Crown-In-
digenous Relations and Northern Affairs Canada, supports what are
called the “permanent bilateral mechanisms”. These are meetings
that take place between indigenous partners—the three national in-
digenous organizations—annually. There are meetings that take
place with the Prime Minister as well as with the other ministers.

That is a forum to advance joint policy initiatives and a place
where we can come together at the table to identify key issues and
policies and to take efforts to make some differences and move pro-
grams forward. My colleague Andy Garrow helps support the over-
arching whole-of-government approach to the calls to action. As
well, he is supporting the Truth and Reconciliation Commission
and the advancement of this bill too.

Mrs. Jenica Atwin: Excellent.

I would add that oftentimes the communication piece is difficult.
I've talked a little about those who might feel left out of the pro-
cess. I've also seen a bit of feedback from Canadians, even around
the National Day for Truth and Reconciliation, just not understand-
ing what it's grounded in and that it's actually a response to a call to
action itself.

Can you speak to the communications piece and what it looks
like to engage with community members across the country?

Mr. Andy Garrow: Thank you for the question.

A lot of this is talking about the different aspects of what came
out of the Truth and Reconciliation report, and also in terms of
what the interim board and the transitional committee have heard
through their journeys. That communication has gone out. We've
tried to share some information through the website and through
ministers' statements, etc., about it as well.

® (1615)
Mrs. Jenica Atwin: That's all I have, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Atwin.

[Translation]

I now give the floor to Mrs. Gill for six minutes.

Mrs. Mariléne Gill (Manicouagan, BQ): Thank you, Mr. Chair.
1 thank the witnesses for being with us today.
I have questions about consultations prior to drafting Bill C-29.

You mentioned several times that many people had been consult-
ed. Obviously, you know how many First Nations there are in
Canada and on their own territories. Were they all consulted ahead
of time?

[English]

Mr. Andy Garrow: Through the processes that were available,
there were opportunities for all first nations, and everybody in
Canada, to participate, especially through the open website that was
posted.

[Translation]

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: That does not answer my question. I want
to know if they had the chance or opportunity to be consulted. I
want to know if all First Nations participated in consultations and
were able to give their opinion.

Ms. Kate Ledgerwood: We don't currently have that informa-
tion, but we can check.

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Thank you. At the same time, if certain
First Nations were unable to participate in consultations, please
identify the reasons. As you know, many communities are remote
and do not necessarily have the means required, specifically the
technological means. I think Mr. Garrow mentioned the issue of in-
ternet. Some communities don't have the required infrastructure or
the technological literacy needed to use it.
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Did all communities truly have the opportunity, both in theory
and practice, to participate in consultations? It would be interesting
to know. Of course, I don't necessarily mean participation in per-
son. In a broad consultation process, both the real and concrete op-
portunity to participate must exist.

I also have a question regarding the constitution of the board of
directors, which will be a transitional board at first. I think man-
dates on the board will be for five years thereafter.

Who proposed the criteria for constituting the board of directors,
whether it be the transitional board or the one that follows? Who
made that proposal?

[English]
Mr. Andy Garrow: Thank you for your question.

In terms of developing the transitional committee, that was de-
veloped by the department in consultation with the minister's office.
The appointments were made by the minister.

[Translation]

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: These are therefore not proposals that came
from First Nations themselves. The minister's office suggested cri-
teria for constituting the board of directors, if I've understood cor-
rectly.

What were the reasons underlying the decision to represent each
of these groups or organizations on the board of directors?

I'll give you an example. Based on my knowledge and contacts
with First Nations, elders are extremely important in their commu-
nities. They are the guardians of knowledge, history, language and
traditions. Of course, this is about setting up a national council to
ensure implementation of all the calls to action by Canada's Truth
and Reconciliation Commission. In my opinion, elders are the most
directly involved in these issues, but they are not at all included in
the makeup of this council.

Why did we choose these characteristics for nine directors? Why
were elders excluded from its composition?

[English]
Mr. Andy Garrow: Again, thank you for the question.

Perhaps I could offer just one clarification to that. The interim
board and the transitional committee were appointments by the
minister, with different memberships as well. The nine to 13 mem-
bers will be appointed for the council once it is established—or
they will be named—and then they'll go through the incorporation
process. That's how they'll be appointed. That's the process for the
nine members.

The folks who were part of the interim board and part of the tran-
sitional committee were selected because they bring expertise.
They bring background and knowledge. They were from a wide
range of people across Canada. There was Chief Wilton Littlechild,
who's a survivor. He's well known and he's been leading a lot of the
conversation on this for 15 years. There are other folks, like Edith
Cloutier, who's—

® (1620)
[Translation]

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: I'm sorry to interrupt you, but I really don't
have much time.

If T understand correctly, it's based on merit, on the definition we
have for merit.

I have a final question to ask, but as time is running out, I think I
will save it for later.

The Chair: You still have 25 seconds.
Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Very well, Mr. Chair.

There was the issue of merit. Can you define your vision of mer-
it?

Currently the definition of merit is based on what matters to the
government. | know that it's transitory, but I'm wondering how it
will be going forward. I think we also want to include First Nations
in nominations for the board of directors.

How would you define merit, to become eligible as a member of
the board of directors?

Ms. Kate Ledgerwood: Thank you for the question.
[English]

As Andy was mentioning, when they look to establish the first
board, there will be an appointment, but the intention is fully that
the board will make the determinations in the future as to how other
members will be selected. They will make the determination as to
how to ensure representation. It will be up to the board to make
those determinations.

[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you very much.

I will now give the floor to Ms. Idlout for six minutes.
[English]
Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

4, P> Sdreal™, <, D2 ANAL LY DPPNCH><LEGeC
drdot <, DPPsPLoD-G%Y Coa Lelons
NSPCDCD>ENLY Ao, <, CL*@ Al &LLENSbNFcSos
ALLACOLLE, €, 0a5b%hsrLIYNJe do<od onl D
GLLANSBAR —SoSo T, <, AMAL®DINIC oa sbstbsrLINJC <,
A=aDNDC &, ASECH-rLesMe, | AdTaDNDC
LS BECHCAND, Coa <, AA®INMILLS <, Cra Lelens
Sbos WS> R dse< A<*aD>No® 0aSbshse-pLd<
A<=a >N o,

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]
Thank you very much.

Please feel welcome, for you have made us understand many
things about this bill, Bill C-29, before it was established. That ac-
countability is very important to us aboriginal people. Indigenous
people have been expecting this for reconciliation.
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For many of us who are indigenous, our rights have been broken
and have not been protected. In the legislation you're requesting, is
there any protection for aboriginal and indigenous rights?

[English]
Mr. Andy Garrow: Thank you for your question.

I think this bill will speak to that in terms of the two measures
that are in there, one for the council that will prepare an annual re-
port on how it views reconciliation being implemented across the
country, including the implementation of the 94 calls to action but
not just on the 94 calls to action. We've heard from the transitional
committee and the interim board that they want to see what's hap-
pening across the country in a number of ways to promote reconcil-
iation, and they will be commenting on that.

There is also the requirement for the Government of Canada to
issue the state of indigenous peoples report in response to that, and
that is also a part of the accountability mechanisms that are in place
to ensure there is a response and that the Government of Canada is
held accountable for reconciliation.

There is also, built into the legislation, the requirement to devel-
op an information-sharing protocol with the council, so that for the
areas of information and data that are outlined in the call to action
and the other information that the council has required in order to
do its job, they'll have that ability. That also speaks a little outside
of it. Any organization can ask for information through the Access
to Information Act, but it's designed so that there's an easier mecha-
nism, or a different mechanism, for the council to get information
from the Government of Canada to do its job.

Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

dt, DI, ALEaDNre>C J5, &, oa-Sb¥ebsrLJNJC
DbDPe>C  W>YLBPet, <, AVLPINLSeS S
AL S%A LT QA PhALbSo S AL DN OSSN,
AL allo% Ad>cP<Lasas, [PD< NDTohe] Ca, <,
A<aD>NPLOTLEN. Cbd< A*LADA*adoAC
Ar Ao LA ALEaDN®>C G, ADBCH<Coc* L, Ca
Ctdd NM>LC Sho  IHDBDALEQGLHLE Adea>N®>C
ASseNseCULI.

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]

As for our rights, for example, indigenous languages should be
protected. The lack of housing issue needs to be dealt with. There's
also our right for our own self-governance and moving towards
self-determination.

These are just three that I've mentioned, but there are a lot more
issues. How can this body push when our rights are broken? How
can you enforce anything when our rights are broken?

[English]

I'll ask the question in English. I think she misunderstood my
question.
® (1625)

The Chair: Do you mean the translator? Okay.

Go ahead in English.

Ms. Lori Idlout: My question is not that I'm asking the govern-
ment to enforce indigenous rights like language, housing and self-
determination. I'm asking how this council would monitor and mea-
sure the protection of our rights, such as what I've listed.

Ms. Kate Ledgerwood: Thank you very much for the question.

As we've mentioned, Bill C-29 is to provide the frame for estab-
lishing the council, and I think one of the messages that perhaps
we'll say, which we've heard quite clearly through the transitional
committee and the interim board, was to create the frame but to let
the council, once it's established, determine what its roles, responsi-
bilities and functions—all of that—will be.

Really, as we've mentioned, it's supposed to be an arm's-length
independent organization. For that reason, there are things that we
can't predict, or we wouldn't want to suggest that we know how
they will set these things up. The intention was always that the leg-
islation creates that frame and the guidance so that the council can
do the work in the future.

Your question is a great question. It's something that's difficult
for us to answer now because we wouldn't want to suggest that we
know in advance what the council, once it's established, would look
to do in terms of its work. As Andy mentioned, there will be annual
reports that will be coming. The council will have the range of what
it would like to report on, and the government will be required to
respond to the reports they provide us.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Ms. Idlout.

I suggest we suspend, because we're going to receive the minister
momentarily, and there isn't time to start another round. If I may
just ask you to be patient, we're waiting for the minister, and then
we'll have an hour with the minister and the witnesses who are al-
ready with us.

Thank you.

* (1629 (Pause)

® (1630)

The Chair: Thank you very much. We will now resume.

Welcome, Minister. As you know, we have begun, as of today,
our study in committee of Bill C-29. We welcome you to the com-
mittee.

The officials surrounding you have answered questions for the
past half-hour, and we will continue now with you. If you would
like to make an opening statement, please do so. Try to keep it to
five minutes. Then we'll proceed to questions.

Thank you.

Hon. Marc Miller (Minister of Crown-Indigenous Relations):
Thank you, Mr. Chair. Please cut me off if I drag on.

Kwe kwe. Ullukkut. Tansi. Hello.
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[Translation]

Before I begin, I would like to acknowledge that Canada's Parlia-
ment is located on the unceded traditional territory of the Algo-
nquin Anishinaabeg people.

[English]

I'd like to thank the chair of the committee for inviting me to ap-
pear today to speak about Bill C-29, an act to provide for the estab-
lishment of a national council for reconciliation.

I look forward to answering these questions, because strengthen-
ing this bill and ensuring we move forward on this are priorities for
all of us.

[Translation]

We marked the second National Day for Truth and Reconcilia-
tion on September 30, last Friday. Indigenous and non-indigenous
people across the country came together in their orange shirts to
continue to learn about the legacy of the residential schools and the
intergenerational impacts. Orange shirts alone are not enough,
though. We have to continue to take concrete steps towards recon-
ciliation.

As committee members know, the Truth and Reconciliation
Commission published its final report and calls to action seven
years ago. Among the commission's calls to action, number 53 calls
upon Parliament to establish a national council for reconciliation,
while numbers 54, 55 and 56 expanded on the roles, responsibili-
ties, and expectations for the council and the various levels of gov-
ernment. These calls to action are saying that, as a country, we need
to measure our progress on reconciliation. We must be held ac-
countable for our promises to indigenous peoples.

[English]

That's why we must implement the calls to action as envisioned
by the TRC. It's important that the board of the national council for
reconciliation be diverse and reflective of all indigenous people in
Canada. If the bill is passed, as Minister of Crown-Indigenous Re-
lations, I would collaborate with a transitional committee to appoint
the first board of directors. The first council would then establish a
process to nominate and elect future board directors, in accordance
with the legislation stipulated in the bill.

The board would comprise nine to 13 directors, at least two-
thirds of whom are indigenous. Three directors must be nominated
by the Assembly of First Nations, Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami and the
Meétis National Council, respectively. These criteria would apply to
the first board, as well as to the future board once the council is in-
corporated.

[Translation]

In particular, the council will include representation from first
nations, Inuit, Métis, indigenous organizations, youth, women,
men, gender diverse persons, and various regions in Canada, in-
cluding urban, rural and remote regions.

It is important to understand that the government does not own
or dictate this process. This is a collaboration, and it has been since
the beginning, as this bill was jointly developed with indigenous
leaders.

Indigenous leaders led the interim board and transitional commit-
tee. They provided independent advice and recommendations that
were instrumental in shaping the legislative framework before you.

® (1635)

[English]

One example of those recommendations is the decision to set up
the council as a not-for-profit entity. Incorporating the national
council for reconciliation as a not-for-profit organization under the
Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act utilizes the existing legisla-
tion to set up the council. Moreover, it establishes and enables the
council to be incorporated as a legal entity that operates completely
independently from the Government of Canada. It will give the
council legal status under the act and allow it to, for example, freely
enter into contracts and have bank accounts. The council will also
be able to independently fundraise for projects and future work.

It's important to note that budget 2019 announced a total
of $126.5 million in funding for the national council for reconcilia-
tion, including $1.5 million to support the first year of operation.
The funding can be used by the board to establish their endowment
for future work, which was very important to the interim board.

[Translation]

I am grateful to the TRC commissioners, the interim board mem-
bers, the transitional committee members, survivors, and especially
the families, and all indigenous and non-indigenous people who
participated in the engagement process. Their contribution was es-
sential in shaping this important legislation.

I am happy to answer all your questions.

Meegwetch. Qujannamiik. Marsee. Thank you. Merci.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Minister.

We will now begin the first round of questions.

Mr. Vidal, you have the floor for six minutes.
[English]

Mr. Gary Vidal: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Minister, for coming today.

Minister, you talked about the call to action number 53 and the
importance of independence. I want to talk about independence for
a couple of minutes.
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The Governor General, acting on the advice of cabinet, appoint-
ed the interim board back in 2018. They did six months of work
and came up with a final report. Then, there was a long delay. You
appointed the transition committee in December 2021. As you stat-
ed in your comments, you, the minister, in collaboration with the
transition committee you appointed, will select the first board of di-
rectors. You'll take their advice. This first board of directors is then
to establish an application process for future board members to be
elected by an as-yet-undefined membership. We don't know who
that membership will be yet. I get the non-profit organization.
There are no articles of incorporation yet. I get all that.

In your own words, in talking about this body, you said it isn't up
to Canada to be grading itself. However, when I look at this pro-
cess, Minister, I have to ask you why you're comfortable having so
much direct control or influence over this body tasked with holding
your government to account and advancing reconciliation. Even if
you don't feel you actually have that direct control, the percep-
tion.... It sure seems as if you do.

Hon. Marc Miller: MP Vidal, it's a very fair question.

As you look through the formation of the board, this is some-
thing that will be done with the committee. Ultimately, I consider
the nomination of the first board a legal artifice. It's written in black
and white that it is with the committee itself. The work is being
done. I don't see my role as being one to veto people. Indeed, with
respect to the appointment of the current committee, essentially I
could have had a call on it, but I haven't. They have determined
their membership by themselves.

After that, it's the Not-for-profit Corporations Act that prevails.
They will determine their own way of reproducing what is in the
act, but there's sort of a legal construct in there that we have to get
over as part of the first hurdle, and that's one that has to involve
consultation. I'm open to getting the recommendations you have—

Mr. Gary Vidal: Okay. That's fair.

Hon. Marc Miller: —because I do recognize the perception in-
volved.

Mr. Gary Vidal: I'm sorry. I'm not trying to be rude, but I have
such limited time and I have a lot of questions.

I get what you're saying and I get what you're implying—that
you wouldn't override that. However, the bill clearly says “selected
by the Minister”. That is the language of the actual bill.

In all fairness, the relationship with indigenous people is one that
probably lacks trust, and for good reason. There's lots of history for
that to happen.

I'm concerned with the record of the government. We could talk
about all kinds of people. I'm not going to go into specifics, but
you're kind of saying, “Trust me that I won't put any undue pres-
sure. I won't influence the process. I won't...,” but the bill actually
says you have control.

You also opened the door to my next question, which would be
whether you would be willing to give up that control to alleviate the
concerns of indigenous people who have lost that trust. Would you
sit down at the table with us and come up with a way that maybe
we could ensure that it is indigenous people, indigenous organiza-

tions, that not only appoint the future boards after five years but al-
so are a part of appointing that first board, which is going to set the
playing field and the ground rules for all future elections of the
boards?

® (1640)

Hon. Marc Miller: I don't want to diminish your point, MP Vi-
dal. I'm open to recommendations as to what this committee, the
vast majority of whom are not indigenous, would suggest. I don't
want to reproduce the same artifice that you're criticizing this bill as
having. Indeed, if you extend it to the whole parliamentary process,
you have another set of arguments that feed into the initial criti-
cism.

At one point someone has to make a decision. I would highlight
that the minister does not have absolute discretion. It does say that
it is done “in collaboration with the transitional committee”. Again,
I'm open to the recommendations of the committee as it considers
other witnesses.

Mr. Gary Vidal: Thank you for that.

In your presentation, you also talked about this legislation being
codrafted with Indigenous peoples, yet Wilton Littlechild, one of
the members of both the interim board and the transitional commit-
tee, is on the public record stating that, in fact, the bill was not co-
drafted with indigenous peoples. Is his criticism accurate, or how
does his criticism compare with your comments today?

Hon. Marc Miller: I haven't had an opportunity to speak with
Dr. Littlechild on the matter.

Mr. Gary Vidal: Well, I think that's something we could pursue.

In our conversations with officials in the last half-hour here be-
fore you came, I asked the question of who made the decision to
change call to action number 56 from having the Prime Minister
being the one responsible for reporting to having the minister re-
sponsible for reporting. My understanding of what they said to us
was that it happened in the drafting of the legislation through the
ministry.

A further question of mine would be whether you are amenable
to the idea of amending that section so it would actually be the
Prime Minister who would be responsible for responding to this re-
port and actually honouring call to action number 56?

Hon. Marc Miller: I'd say, first off, that it's absurd to suggest
that the Prime Minister hasn't held himself up to be responsible to
indigenous peoples for what we have shone a light on in the last
seven years. That said, I'd absolutely be open to it. We'd have to ex-
amine what the recommendations of the committee ultimately
would be.
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Again, I do think what's in the legislation, from a purely techni-
cal perspective, is more responsive in terms of a government re-
sponse than what is contained in the call to action, but, again, we're
open to any suggestions you would propose.

Mr. Gary Vidal: In fairness, Minister, that is not what the call to
action called for. That's my challenge.

Hon. Marc Miller: That's my point. We're trying to present a
government response, and what's in the call to action is a response
by the Prime Minister. If you look at the machinery of government,
a tabling in Parliament on behalf of the government makes a much
broader statement. As to the symbolic value of having the Prime
Minister say it, I'm open to suggestions from the committee.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Vidal.
We will now go to Mr. McLeod.

Mr. McLeod, you have six minutes.

Mr. Michael McLeod (Northwest Territories, Lib.): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Welcome, Minister. It's certainly good to see you join us here to-
day.

It's also very good to see that the government is working with in-
digenous people rather than against them as we've seen so many
times in our history.

Mr. Minister, I think you know that the Northwest Territories has
been dealing with a lot of very serious challenges. A recent report
found that one in five homes in the territories was in need of major
repairs. In some communities, it's up to 60%. The people in Fort
Good Hope are dealing with the aftermath of multiple stabbings last
month that left one resident dead. Just this past week, the chief
coroner released new data showing that there's been a dramatic in-
crease in the number of suicides this year in the Beaufort Delta.
The community of Tuktoyaktuk alone has seen four deaths in the
last three months.

At the root of these problems, in my view, is the ongoing impact
of colonialism and also the intergenerational trauma from the resi-
dential school system. It's no coincidence that the Northwest Terri-
tories has the highest rate of residential school survivors per capita.

I want to ask you if you could explain how the work of the na-
tional council for reconciliation will ensure that Canada does the
work necessary to address these issues.

® (1645)

Hon. Marc Miller: Thank you, MP McLeod. I appreciate the
question.

Clearly, as we all know, as members of this committee know, this
is an organization that is supposed to be independent from the gov-
ernment. There has been a lot of very public back and forth as to
the state of the completion of the TRC's calls to action, with the
government at times stating how much it has completed and then,
perhaps, how much is ongoing, noting that not all the calls to action
call on the federal government specifically to fulfill these calls—
the most notable one, obviously, being the apology from the Pope
this summer, which was given.

Again, it's the federal government deciding how much has been
done and what needs to be done. We know that indigenous peoples
often criticize this for the lack of clarity, process and truth, frankly,
from our government in the sufficiency of the calls to action and
their level of completeness.

This board, in a sense, will hold this government and subsequent
governments to account, particularly on issues that require persis-
tent, sustained investments in matters like mental health and hous-
ing—all themes of the calls to action that we've made, as you know,
significant investments in. However, I can't sit here today and tell
you that those are sufficient nor that the results are following par-
ticularly fast. As you've seen in the north—it being one of the
places where the residential schools were closed last—the effects
are felt in a generation that is still much younger, as well as on their
children and families.

It isn't something that we have been particularly good at measur-
ing and, therefore, very good at addressing. The $500 million-plus
that has been allocated for mental health in prior budget years, with
the another $200 million most recently allocated, is important. We
know the hidden pandemic that has followed after COVID and was
very much present prior to that is huge. The impacts are felt in the
most severe forms of expression of mental health distress, whether
that's problematic substance use or ideation of suicide.

Minister Hajdu, as you know, today invested a supplementary
amount of $11 million, which will affect in that form the Inuvialuit
portion of the Northwest Territories.

There is work to do. It requires us to be held to account. It re-
quires that type of organization to look at the TRC's calls to action
as not only a check-the-box operation but as an ongoing undertak-
ing that goes right up to the duty of our government and the honour
of the Crown.

Mr. Michael McLeod: Thank you for that.

It's good to see that there's investment happening in the north. It
feels especially good because, for the longest time, indigenous peo-
ple had to sue the government to get anything in the budget. It's
good to see that's changing.

There's been a total of $126.5 million announced for this council.
I'd like to know how that dollar figure, the $126.5 million proposed
in the budget, was arrived at.

Hon. Marc Miller: Key to the financial independence of an or-
ganization such as this is that you can create this organization, but
if it has no money, you essentially limit its ability to act because it
can't pay for the proper expertise to analyze all the massive infor-
mation that it will be provided or hire experts who deserve to be
well paid for their work.
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The $126.5 million—and I'll defer to officials after this—was
looked at as part of an essential injection of funds for the first num-
ber of years, and there's the possibility of creating an endowment to
support ongoing activities. It might need more money, but it was
sort of a measure that was come up with as part of the 2019 budget
to make sure that this committee would have a level of indepen-
dence that was financial in nature.

I don't know, Andy, if you want to complement that.
Mr. Andy Garrow: That's correct. Thank you.

I also want to reiterate that it was looked at in terms of the opera-
tions of the council and what would be required, but also in terms
of giving it the flexibility to do some of that fundraising for addi-
tional operations as well as being an important part of becoming a
not-for-profit organization and being established in that way. Yes,
it's for the operations and then the initial years.

® (1650)
Mr. Michael McLeod: I have one more quick question.
The Chair: It will have to be very quick, Mr. McLeod.

Mr. Michael McLeod: I just want to ask the minister if he could
reassure me that the north, the Northwest Territories and all the
northern jurisdictions, will have representation on this board. We
don't normally belong to some of the national indigenous organiza-
tions, but we do have a large indigenous population.

Hon. Marc Miller: Quickly, the answer is yes. The discretion
will not be mine to wield. It's been noted many times, and there is
that need to have that diverse representation. That's the answer |
can give you right now, MP McLeod.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. McLeod.

[Translation]

I will now give the floor to Ms. Gill for six minutes.
Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I would like to thank the minister for participating in this meet-
ing.

In the first round of questions, I asked primarily about first na-
tions representation in the consultations.

We can, of course, ask the same questions about the members of
the board. I am not referring to the transitional committee or the in-
terim board, but the board of directors that will be established
thereafter. I was going to say permanent, but that is not the right
word since the members are elected for a five-year term.

Can we say that the Assembly of First Nations, the Inuit Tapiriit
Kanatami and the Métis National Council truly represent all the na-
tions in Canada?

Hon. Marc Miller: The simple answer is no. These organiza-
tions represent a large majority of people, but there are, of course,
first nations, who consider themselves to be first nations, but do not
feel represented by the Assembly of First Nations. We all know
that; it is common knowledge.

Overall, we have tried to ensure that each national council had a
place on this council. There is also the issue of proportionality,
which other witnesses might address. Another challenge is ensuring

that there is diversity on the council. So there is some tension, but
we wanted to prevent things from becoming too politicized. As you
know, these are groups that are not necessarily rights holders, espe-
cially as regards the AFN. The communities are, of course, rights
holders. One of the challenges is to have prominent individuals
who can work independently. What is most important is that the
AFN, the National Métis Council and, of course, the ITK are repre-
sented.

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: I wonder if the minister would be open to
the idea of a mechanism that would allow the first nations, which
consider themselves to be nations although they are not represent-
ed, to be represented in another way. They could occupy other
seats.

Hon. Marc Miller: I am open to recommendations. We would
have to listen to the testimony. It is already quite difficult to limit
the membership to 13 people. It will be a difficult choice and the
results will not be perfect, ultimately.

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Precisely. Even if there were just nine
members, it would be difficult. In any case, we must always aim for
relative perfection. I just wanted to hear you say that you are indeed
aware that the representation cannot be perfect.

There is something else I would like to know, and I think you
mentioned it in your reply. I would like to know if some people
have made comments, not to say complaints, about the consultation
itself, during which not everyone necessarily had the chance to
speak, or about the membership of the board. Were there certain
people, for instance, who were unhappy with the membership or
did not feel represented? Did you receive those kinds of comments
or suggestions from the first nations?

Hon. Marc Miller: I am hesitant to speak on behalf of the par-
ticipants, especially indigenous persons.

I think you will hear that the membership is not perfect. Some
people would like their own representatives to be on the board of
directors. At the same time, I don't think they want to criticize the
current membership of the committee.

® (1655)

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Could you give an indication, by percent-
age or some other measure, of how representative it is of all first
nations in Canada?

I know that will be difficult.

Hon. Marc Miller: First, I think people are generally very happy
with the principle of Bill C-29. Where it gets complicated is that
everyone wants their voice around the table. It's going to be diffi-
cult at the end of the day if everyone wants to be represented. There
are stakeholders who are very political. I don't blame them for that.
Unfortunately, difficult choices will have to be made. Most of the
time, people who are independent are not politicians. People can al-
so be political without being politicians. In the end, it will be a hard
choice. All in all, I think people, looking back, will be very happy
with the bill.
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Mrs. Mariléne Gill: So people agree on the principle, but there
is still a question of legitimacy that will arise for a number of them.
We are unable to establish the exact proportions, but, before pro-
nouncing for or against the bill, we must be aware that this question
will arise.

I have other questions, but I think I will have to wait until my
next turn to speak on some of them.

I would like to talk about the independence of the body that will
be created. Obviously, as it is being created, it is necessarily linked
in some way to the government, at the moment. I wonder how it
will work in terms of the composition of the body itself. You want
it to be totally independent, like any board. So you have to ask
yourself whether the government is funding some of the organiza-
tions that are represented. I'm not necessarily talking about con-
flicts of interest here, that's not what I mean, but we need to see if
there are any difficulties that might arise and, if so, think about
ways to resolve them.

We don't know exactly what the composition of the board will
be. There is talk of organizations in general, for example women's
and youth organizations. But often these organizations are already
receiving government grants. I wonder how they are going to be
able to say that they are absolutely free to do and say what they
want on the board of the organization.

Hon. Marc Miller: Bill C-29 provides for an audit process to
ensure that everything is as it should be. There is a process estab-
lished by the Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act. In this bill,
we have tried to ensure that the government cannot, on its own,
make radical changes to that process without introducing a new
bill. In other words, it would open itself up to criticism if it tried to
interfere with the process.

So I think that everything is in place to ensure the independence
of the body. In any event, there will always be provisions for that in
the Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Gill.

I now give the floor to Ms. Idlout for six minutes.
[English]
Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

d, sdreal®, b, AotDSodSL, Adh. CAL, d, ¢SS
sdaal™ SbALAC, DaL JCNLLC, <b, o bsthstrLd<dNJC, <L,
ASeQP-NSC  AGECDALeQPLLC,  AS*aPNDC  K>rLc
PdetfeqbLSLC, <b, Coa  Lolens LSPADA>-adob Ao
QA*Ddoeat /\<‘“Ql>ﬂl>_< M*ho¢  NNSSPLNdODAQSLE,
DPPPAtbeoPL-<C L, Cbdd, <, aLLEhbNFeSasic NI
I\pro-‘ib<‘c’ 4L’ ﬁb_oﬁb /\Q&Jﬁbncﬂﬁbccqbﬁb/\r” 4,
ASIRSALPNEDSoPNE AL2a DNDC LS LDbhegSddegPNe,

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]
First of all, thank you, Mr. Miller, for being here. I welcome you.

Concerning those of us who are indigenous, our rights have been
broken many times and are never protected. This new legislation
said only a couple of things about rights. I'd like you to clarify the
accountability around reconciliation.

How would your motion or recommendation protect indigenous
rights?

[English]

Hon. Marc Miller: Qujannamiik, MP Idlout, for that, and I
thank the translator for the work today.

This board is a partial answer to accountability for the govern-
ment generally. It responds specifically to calls to action 53 to 56 to
make sure that we are being held to account as a government for
the 94 calls to action. It's not the perfect mechanism of entire ac-
countability. There are other ones, and you mentioned the rights-
based approach that we must take as a government with respect to
implementing, not only the 94 calls to action but the calls to justice
in the final report on murdered and missing indigenous women and
girls.

There are many moving parts across the spectrum of reconcilia-
tion-related initiatives that look for the accountability of the federal
government in making sure that we're moving in a rights-based pro-
cess, the foremost of which is still outstanding. It is the action plan
into the implementation of the United Nations Declaration on the
Rights of Indigenous Peoples that will provide a pathway. This will
feed into it and, indeed, the United Nations Declaration on the
Rights of Indigenous Peoples is referred to in the act, but it's not the
only instrument. It's a very long-awaited instrument that will be the
authority on whether the government is fulfilling its actions, not on-
ly our government but other governments at other levels. It's obvi-
ously one where we can look at budgetary implementation and poli-
cy reforms, if they have those recommendations and choose to do
so as well as the annual report on reconciliation that is to be tabled
in Parliament according to the law.

It is one of many, but I do want to highlight your main point,
which is to keep focusing on a rights-based approach to this and not
a transactional approach, which has characterized a number of ini-
tiatives across the government.

® (1700)

Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

sdbeal™ PDCYASAS, d, <5Go, 4, <% 2021%JN<d
KPEOTH DSLE oCT?, Coa <MCAb [bIAS05-5b% Ne] <,
0abhLIAC DbDPUegh, Cra NELCH Do §o5eC
Ata®, G, bMASoS oDt Ao, Chdd A5 AALPCLPE, C"d<ICCl>">
AAE, DALPEETLASANS  ADSPLLANE U<l e

PIQALEANE, <, PPe LLLDhEd 0 ASIRDALPNG®
KSPCNHCHo <N LM Coa 4, onbl-c>TLNY, Cra

AALPSd  hot 4 ARBENPed™ DI SesS
QPBE NN ede<,  Codd <, QLLPASbNSo>< b ot
AlLladd), Coa <0dNSPA<DLEGLALAL, <, AbALLE
ARSaPNSE AL <, 8>*Rtan<ht-La thodSNd,
A5 DSbD>renob< Mol ot
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[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]
Thank you for your answer.

Last year, in June 2021, there was the implementation of a new
commissioner for indigenous languages. One was appointed.
Ronald Ignace was appointed.

Thinking about that, those with diverse and different perspec-
tives made the recommendation, and we were expecting that. How
will this be diverse or would it be similar to that type of process?
Do you think this would be a good route to take with regard to our
rights, for example, the right to our languages?

[English]
Hon. Marc Miller: It's a great question.

I met with Commissioner Ignace this morning to speak about the
work that's ongoing and the work that the commission is doing.
There's an opportunity here, I think, to cross-pollinate. I think that
it's odd to say you're limited only to language, because language is
identity, and it falls into every aspect of the calls to action as well
as the work that the commission will be doing.

Commissioner Ignace's work is targeted specifically to how the
work that needs to be done on indigenous languages is still out-
standing, and the recommendations that have to be made by the
government are related to that particular area of language, which is
obviously so key to this debate.

I do think there will be an opportunity. They shouldn't limit each
other in their approach. For example, I wouldn't think this commis-
sion would abstract itself from the calls to action that deal specifi-
cally with language. They can have other views, which is their
right, but I do see the opportunity to feed into each other and to
have a better approach as we talk about something in this country
that we're not very good at talking about or at least having an intel-
lectual debate on, which is language, particularly in the promotion
of indigenous languages, which both colonizing languages have
contributed to destroy. That's something that is an ongoing chal-
lenge, but it will be an opportunity in both the form of the language
commissioner and this board.

The Chair: Thank you.

We have time for a complete second round. We've never done
this, but we're going to start off right away.

We have Mr. Schmale this time for five minutes.

Mr. Jamie Schmale (Haliburton—Kawartha Lakes—Brock,
CPC): Thank you, Chair.

Thank you, Minister and officials, for being here today.

I want to pick up on the line of questioning by Madame Gill re-
garding representation. We talked about the big three being includ-
ed on the board of directors initially. We've had your words through
testimony pointing out that there's a vast majority of indigenous
people who are not feeling represented by the big three, but it also
says that, after five years, you get some mandated representation on
the council from groups like indigenous women, youth and that
kind of thing. Why not do that right away? Can you help me under-
stand that?

® (1705)

Hon. Marc Miller: The three national indigenous organizations
have a very powerful voice in this country, and it is important for
them to have that representation on the board.

As I explained to MP Gill, we're open to suggestions. We want to
make sure that there is diverse representation on the board. How
much the federal government steers that is a challenge. It's why
we've deferred quite a lot to the interim board and the transitional
board. It isn't lost on me that there are perhaps some organizations
that are forceful advocates of indigenous peoples that will not feel
represented necessarily, or they may feel represented but not have
the opportunity to appoint one of their own. This can be a highly
political and politicized process.

Again, I think my recommendation to this committee, if it choos-
es to do so, is to put forward some suggestions, understanding that
this has to be a working group that isn't too large but has that level
of representation.

I would note the comments that MP McLeod made, which is that
the north, despite having fewer people, has to have that representa-
tion on the board, particularly in light of his comments on residen-
tial school survivors.

Mr. Jamie Schmale: I'm sure you're aware that the Native Al-
liance of Quebec, the Manitoba Métis Federation and the Congress
of Aboriginal Peoples have all said that they want to be included
rather than have to wait.

Again, for the record, is the government open to reasonable sug-
gestions?

Hon. Marc Miller: We're open to suggestions.

Mr. Jamie Schmale: Let's talk about time frames now.

According to the technical briefing, the interim board of directors
did six months of work between January and June of 2018. Then
the transitional committee did three months of work between Jan-
uary and March of 2022. There's a massive gap there.

What happened to that first bit of work that was done way before
the pandemic started, in 2018. How did we get to the point we are
now where there has been a long time between any movement?

Hon. Marc Miller: I don't want to blame the entirety of this on
the pandemic, but there is a large measure of that attributable to the
pandemic.

Recall that, for that two-year period, the focus, particularly for
indigenous communities, was to keep their own alive and safe,
which is a basic minimum, but it became priority number one under
the pandemic.

Mr. Jamie Schmale: This started in June 2018, not December
2020. The pandemic didn't start until March of 2020, when the
world declared a health emergency.

Hon. Marc Miller: Like I said, I'm not going to ascribe every-
thing to the pandemic, but for a large measure of this.... Recall that
for the funding for this it's not like nothing happened. The funding
was achieved in budget 2019, so it's not an accurate argument to
say that nothing happened. There has been work that's been done
and is under way—
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Mr. Jamie Schmale: I'm sure there has. I just want to know
what in terms of.... It took a long time to get this going here. This
has taken a lot of years.

Hon. Marc Miller: Well, $126 million isn't nothing. I would
add, just to complete my thought, the large portion of that time pe-
riod relates to a period of, let's hope, a once-in-a-lifetime pandemic,
when people were focused on keeping their own alive.

Mr. Jamie Schmale: Absolutely, and no one is debating the fact
that everyone around the world had their priorities changed during
the pandemic. What I'm trying to focus on is what was happening
way before that, for two years. All of a sudden there's a rush for it
at the end. We have to get this tabled now. We've had years, minus
the pandemic, to get moving on this. All of a sudden now is the
crush to get this done ASAP.

I agree it's important, but I'm still not understanding what the
blockages have been.

Hon. Marc Miller: I would submit to you that, in light of the
discoveries in and around Kamloops, our government has been fo-
cused on how we accelerate things. Despite the work of the transi-
tional committee and the interim report—

Mr. Jamie Schmale: That happened during the pandemic, as
well. Again, we're going before the pandemic.

Hon. Marc Miller: If you want me to isolate a period of time
that is a few months, I can't offer you an explanation that, obvious-
ly, will satisfy you, but again—

® (1710)

Mr. Jamie Schmale: I'm not saying a few months. I'm saying a
few years, from 2018.

Hon. Marc Miller: I'm sorry. Just recall the time frame we're
talking about.

Mr. Jamie Schmale: It was 2018. The board of directors, they
started their work in January 2018. That started from January to
June of 2018. Then the transitional committee did an additional
three months of work after that. You've had all this information, all
this work. We're still in 2018. The pandemic hit in 2020. I'm just
curious about what happened from 2018 to March 2020. What
work was being done?

Hon. Marc Miller: We got $126 million to make it happen and
then there was also a pandemic. I wouldn't suggest that's nothing.
The fact of the matter is that this is before us here today. We've
been told by indigenous people across the country that we need to
accelerate things, particularly in and around the discoveries of the
unmarked graves at residential schools. We've been moving quick-
ly. This is a bill that was put in front of you in June. It's something
we'd like to get done. It's a priority of our government. I think it
should be a priority of every MP.

Mr. Jamie Schmale: It is. We're being asked—
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Schmale.

We'll go to Mr. Weiler for five minutes.

Mr. Patrick Weiler (West Vancouver—Sunshine Coast—Sea
to Sky Country, Lib.): Thank you, Chair.

Thank you also to the minister and officials for being here today.

Minister, one key function of the council is going to be reporting
on the progress on reconciliation as well as offering recommenda-
tions to advance it. It's really critical that the council has access to
documents, data and reports from the government to effectively be
able to do their work and report. Actually, call to action 55 calls on
the federal government to disclose documents to the council.

1 was hoping you could elaborate on what this process will look
like, according to section 16, and how it can ensure that the council
will have access to all of the information that's needed to inform its
work.

Hon. Marc Miller: That's an excellent question. It's something
that we'll have to make sure we're putting our best foot forward on
in providing the documentation that the board asks us to provide.

It's key for us that there's a fluid back-and-forth on how and what
we provide to the board members as they request information. That
goes through a process of establishing a protocol and constant lines
of communication so that information requests don't get lost. Any
suggestions, frankly, that this committee would have for strengthen-
ing the mechanisms that have been proposed inside the proposed
bill would be very much welcomed by us.

One key aspect to this is measuring things. You can't measure
things that you can't ascertain or have the information on to back up
your conclusions. In my mind, this, the results and the recommen-
dations that will be made by this independent board, hinge on its
ability to operate on its own and its ability to have access to docu-
mentation from the government in a timely fashion across various
ministries. As you would know, the TRC calls asks the entirety of
government to deliver. It isn't limited to one or two departments
that touch and concern indigenous peoples. It touches on all depart-
ments.

I anticipate it will be a challenge, but it's a challenge that we can
live up to if we have robust legislation that gets the government to
do what it's supposed to do.

Mr. Patrick Weiler: Thank you for that. I think it is really im-
portant to make sure that any information the council will be asking
for from our government and future governments will not be
blocked.

Certainly just as important as providing the information to do
their work is the significance of having the government having to
respond to that. That's what subclause 17(3) addresses directly.

From your point of view, what recourse will there be if the gov-
ernment response is deemed insufficient or lacking in the informa-
tion that appropriately responds to the requests made by the coun-
cil?

Hon. Marc Miller: The ability of the council in the face of a
government request that is insufficient.... I think you've seen proof
of that, particularly in this very important aspect of our future and
our present.
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Obviously, being a government in minority, there is the ability to
use a level of recourse that has really drastic consequences, if peo-
ple are truly seized by how important it is to answer these recom-
mendations by the committee. Certainly, folks around the table will
probably know the power they have to compel the government to
do things in that type of situation. This is also to inform not only
government to get on with it but also to have society focused on it.
We get a lot of pressure from constituents and from indigenous
leadership to get moving on things when things are brought to light.

I believe we're up to the task to the extent that we haven't been
up to now. This is an added layer of credibility. It's an added layer
of moral authority and imperative for us to move when we're found
to be lacking in these areas. I think it's quite forceful.

I don't know what the process would be if the government's re-
sponse falls short of the legislation. There's always a judicial pro-
cess, but I think the repercussions are quite severe when con-
stituents make sure that their elected representatives are living up to
their expectations.

® (1715)
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Weiler.

[Translation]

Ms. Gill, you have the floor for two and a half minutes.
Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I have a question about the mandate of the National Council for
Reconciliation, which is necessary but immense in scope. In addi-
tion to reporting, which we talked about earlier, one of the expecta-
tions of this council is that it will assess and “monitor [...] the
progress being made towards reconciliation” and “recommend
measures to promote, prioritize and coordinate efforts” towards rec-
onciliation “in all sectors of Canadian society and by all govern-
ments in Canada.”

Can you clarify what you mean by “all sectors of Canadian soci-
ety”? To me, that encompasses everything, literally.

Can you also clarify what you mean by “all governments”? Does
that include municipal governments and indigenous governments as
well?

In short, I would like to know what is meant in the bill when it
refers to Canadian society and governments.

Hon. Marc Miller: This is the intent of the provision: the Na-
tional Council for Reconciliation will be free to choose how it will
ensure the response of the federal, provincial and territorial govern-
ments, and it will be able to provide its views on what works and
what does not.

Actually, two-thirds of the calls to action fall under the federal
government. There are some that relate to universities, private ac-
tors, or provincial governments. Among others, as we know, the fi-
nal report of the National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered In-
digenous Women and Girls includes a companion report on Que-
bec.

Be that as it may, it will be a free choice. The bill shows the
breadth of the mission, but it will obviously be up to the members

of the National Council for Reconciliation to decide which ele-
ments they want to focus on.

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: I had said that it seemed to me to encom-
pass everything, literally. In the end, my interpretation was right,
because that is exactly what it is.

I would also like to talk about funding. Because the mandate is
so broad, some concerns have been raised about that. There is a
multi-year funding as well as funding to set up this council. How
will this work?

Hon. Marc Miller: According to our analysis, this will be suffi-
cient for the first few years. The National Council for Reconcilia-
tion will be free to make investments and do fundraising. Obvious-
ly, it is a non-profit organization. I think $126 million is a pretty big
sum for an organization of this size. There will be work to do and
the board will have to compensate the people who are hired proper-
ly. We know they may ask for more money, but that will have to be
looked at in due course.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Gill.
[English]
Ms. Idlout, you have two and a half minutes.

Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

sdreal®, <, Coa <, DAIFOMt Nr>odeds,
bNLAD o <156 D¢ Sb>ALLS A% 0abshserLJob
AChSod®Nts)  PPde C<d 4, AoDA%a™S, <
oPLRCHPLE-A DN SIE, R 0abbrLJAC
L<Ledaregeaiearniore,  Coa o DrRsa®™Nesd, <,
AAAILSAL Sbos PDAGhSo<ISLAL Codd LLLDShedS Prc
PLLS.D AL ShSeNE M C ShoSt DA bS5 <E

AcnsbNbEY AN Lb®NSMC 0a b berLIAC L<LLEd b,
[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]
Thank you.

This independent board, I know it will have directors who are in-
digenous peoples but not indigenous governing nations. How do
you see the Crown's relationship to indigenous nations being im-
pacted when indigenous organizations should be working with the
indigenous organizations?

[English]
® (1720)

Hon. Marc Miller: If I understand your question correctly, it's a
good one. I think a lot of times the tendency has been to say that
we're going to create something and then wash our hands of it, and
that satisfies the obligation the Crown has towards a particular in-
digenous group.

Each has its specific relationship that is historical and present in
nature, the Inuit-Crown partnership obviously being top of mind,
but the treaty relationships as well. They're all nuanced.
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I think this commission heightens it. I think it enhances it. I think
it enhances it for the civil servants who don't spend their days doing
this but have a responsibility to live up to it. That's why we have
the Inuit Nunangat policy, which is key to perfecting that relation-
ship. I use that as an example because it is something we've worked
on for a very long time. The proof is still outstanding as to whether
it is actually working, but it is something we need to remind our-
selves of. Far too often, indigenous groups come to the table having
to educate us on our relationship. It should be a no-brainer that we
have that relationship, and we should be educating ourselves as to
what it is.

I'm not creating a false tension in the question you asked, but I
think it can actually enhance the relationships that are nuanced and
diverse in nature—not only directly towards indigenous peoples but
with the rights holders themselves, to the extent that they hold col-
lective rights and represent them. I think that is varied, and having a
group of independent people express that will not only reinforce it.
It is also a reminder that we can't simply say that the commission
has spoken and we can ignore all the other things that are going on
that are used to hold us to account, or at least the relationships that
we have.

This is about human dynamics and political dynamics. They're
not perfect, but I think this will be an added benefit if we act like
the mature responsible government we hold ourselves out to be.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Idlout.

[Translation]

I now give the floor to Mr. Deltell for five minutes.

Mr. Gérard Deltell (Louis-Saint-Laurent, CPC): Thank you
very much, Mr. Chair. I salute your achievement 38 years ago.

Ladies and gentlemen, I'm very pleased to be with you today.
My best wishes to you, Mr. Chair.

I want to say that whenever I've had dealings with the minister
with respect to the indigenous community in my riding, we've al-
ways worked well together. I want to thank him publicly for that.

Indeed, I have the privilege to represent the community of Wen-
dake. The Huron-Wendat are established here, on the ancestral
lands, and have been living here on a more permanent basis for
over 300 years. I had the privilege of representing them for seven
years in the Quebec National Assembly, and now I have been repre-
senting them for seven years in the House of Commons. I say that
with pride because I was born next to Wendake, in Loretteville,
which is just a mile from that community. I grew up with the people
of Wendake, and I am very proud to represent them. Unfortunately,
that representation will end in the next election because of the elec-
toral redistribution. So if I run again and am re-elected, I will no
longer have the privilege of representing them. It breaks my heart.
Electoral redistribution isn't done based on the moods of the mem-
bers, but rather on demographics.

That being said, I would like to commend the minister and come
back to what Ms. Gill said earlier about the various governments.

As we know, there is a department in Quebec that deals with first
nations affairs. I've forgotten the official name of that department.

In any event, I think the minister responsible is well recognized and
has done a good job in recent years.

Bill C-29 calls for the creation of a national council for reconcili-
ation, which will be very important. We want everyone to work to-
gether. Of course, no one is against virtue. However, when there is
jurisdictional overlap, that's when problems can arise.

In the context of this council that will be created, I would like to
know how the minister sees the fit between the federal government,
which is the lead on first nations matters, and the provinces, partic-
ularly Quebec, which have jurisdiction over the issues.

1 would like to know the minister's vision on this.

Hon. Marc Miller: That's a very valid question. I would add that
we can represent people who are not in our riding. I know you care
about the Wendat people. You know very well that you will always
have the right to represent them.

In the context of indigenous relations, jurisdiction is a poisonous
concept. In fact, the Constitution of Canada was imposed on them,
as was the border. So it's a very difficult discussion.

Most of our fights with the provinces, whether it's about lan-
guage or services for indigenous children, have been to the detri-
ment of indigenous people. So I'm going to be cautious before I
make a definitive statement as to what jurisdiction this falls under.
In fact, we all have a responsibility to serve indigenous people. We
are talking about a fiduciary obligation that is as much the responsi-
bility of the provincial Crown as it is of the federal government, al-
though the federal government has primary responsibility.

I've seen first-hand, during the pandemic, how difficult this issue
is. It's associated with relationships that are often broken, whether
it's in the context of the numbered treaties or the treaty that Quebec
and Canada claim as the first progressive modern treaty, in this case
the James Bay and Northern Quebec Agreement.

What we're hearing from indigenous communities, in general, is
that there is a problem, that we need to sort out the jurisdictional
issue, and that we need to work together. Most of the time we
haven't done that.

For example, to be able to solve the housing shortage, you need
investment from the provinces. British Columbia is doing it, as is
Canada, but not all provinces are.

Reforming the child care system will require that children be
well served in their own language and that the best interests of the
child come first. Unfortunately, this is a conflict we have with Que-
bec and is currently before the Supreme Court. That being said,
other provinces are waiting to benefit, if at all, from the province's
victory.



October 6, 2022

INAN-32 15

So it's a very thorny issue. I don't have a definitive answer or
opinion on the division of powers. This is a word that's fraught with
consequences, especially for indigenous people.

I have a good relationship with Ian Lafreniére, the outgoing Que-
bec minister, but we need to work together. The same is true for all
responsible ministers in the other provinces.

® (1725)

Mr. Gérard Deltell: You raise some interesting points. Howev-
er, assuming this leadership is your responsibility.

For our part, we are currently in a consultation process. We have
raised a number of issues, including accountability and the issue of
appointment. However, in the specific case of federal-provincial-
first nations relations, you are the lead.

Here, I’'m asking you to decide: what place will you give the
provinces in this bill?

Hon. Marc Miller: This bill includes but is not limited to the
federal government and its responsibility. The national council for
reconciliation will have the right to rule on the progress of a partic-
ular province. I assume you have Quebec in mind, but it could be
Saskatchewan, for example. The council will have every right to do
that, and I'm not going to criticize them for that. It's not a jurisdic-
tional issue; it's ultimately a societal project.

The Constitution Act, 1867 and the case law concerning the 24th
element specified in its section 91 are quite nebulous. In fact, a case
is currently before the court in this regard. This provision has al-
ways been interpreted very narrowly by the federal government.

The fact remains that this has been imposed on indigenous peo-
ple. However, when we talk about reconciliation, we are also talk-
ing about joint responsibility for reparation. This obligation to in-
digenous peoples falls under both levels of government. In terms of
that responsibility, we may be the standard-bearer, but legally and
morally it's a shared obligation.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Deltell.
[English]
We'll now complete the second round with Mr. Battiste.

Mr. Battiste, you have five minutes.

Mr. Jaime Battiste (Sydney—Victoria, Lib.): Thank you very
much.

Minister, thank you for joining us.

I really appreciate some of the comments I've heard about how
we need to move forward on indigenous rights and on the Truth and
Reconciliation Commission's calls to action. I can't help but think
about how much further or more quickly we would have gotten to
this legislation if Romeo Saganash's private member's bill on UN-
DRIP hadn't been blocked by Conservative senators in 2018 and
2019, and then dragging their feet on Bill C-15. I think we could
have gotten to this legislation a lot quicker.

Since we're talking about reconciliation, within the Truth and
Reconciliation Commission's calls to action, the United Nations
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples was mentioned
seven times.

Minister, can you talk a little about what you've heard from the
leadership on the priority of moving forward on UNDRIP during
the years that you were a minister in Indigenous Services and now
as Minister of Crown-Indigenous Relations?

® (1730)

Hon. Marc Miller: I often get this question as well, as it ties in-
to the calls to action. I think as we looked at the very painful mo-
ment of the rediscoveries in Kamloops and other locations, the fo-
cus moved quite rightly to the calls to action 72 through 76, which
are now being extensively financed for people to do searches on
their own time. It brought back lots of painful memories and the
importance of putting the truth before reconciliation so that we can
speak quite clearly about what is going right and what is going
wrong, and about our relationship. It is the one impediment, and the
justified mistrust toward the Canadian government, that prevents us
from doing things like implementing the United Nations Declara-
tion on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. That work is ongoing
with the Minister of Justice, which we are assisting with.

1 think, as Wilton Littlechild said, the declaration itself is a bunch
of principles that set indigenous peoples at the starting line. The
finish line is yet to come, and I don't know what that finish line
looks like. It definitely isn't up to me to decide, but it's something
that we have to keep working on with indigenous communities as
we review our laws, which are extensive in nature, and regulations,
and put together an action plan that reflects the contribution of in-
digenous communities to what that would look like.

Luckily, thanks to B.C. we have a path. It is not one that we
would completely copy, but it's something that I think shows us
where the pitfalls are, where the positive elements are and where
we can move as a country, as a leader in implementing it, especially
in our jurisdiction. Also, it's encouraging provinces, then, to adopt
UNDRIP as their own set of principles as they implement and re-
form their laws to make them consonant with the basic inherent
rights of indigenous peoples.

Mr. Jaime Battiste: Thank you, Minister.

Within some of the work that this committee will be doing, para-
graph 7(c) says that they'll be conducting “research on promising
practices that advance efforts for reconciliation in all sectors of
Canadian society, by all governments in Canada and at the interna-
tional level”. I'm wondering if you could speak to some of the
promising practices that we're seeing on reconciliation, which
you've been able to witness in your journeys around Canada, espe-
cially in terms of education and creating awareness of what hap-
pened during the residential schools.

Hon. Marc Miller: I'd preface my response to that by saying
there still is a lot of ignorance as to the reality of residential
schools. I think if you see any sort of polling out there, there is a
large ignorance as to what residential schools were and the legacy
of that.
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I think it's unfortunate that indigenous peoples have to take it
again on their shoulders, while they're in a period of trauma, to edu-
cate people who should already know better. I take a lot of pride in
seeing my own children being educated in a way that I wasn't—and
I see that across the country. It's not anecdotal. It's a real
groundswell. That's nice to see.

When you come to the education reform and some of the discus-
sions that I've had with elders, particularly those who have attended
residential schools, there's a lot of hope in that. It's to their credit,
because they have no reason to trust the Canadian government, but
they see hope in our not reproducing the model that created resi-
dential schools in the first place. They see it in investments in edu-
cation and education reforms, schools on reserve and schools that
are culturally appropriate.

The path is long. I'm not going to say it's going to be fixed
overnight, but I think there's a lot of hope out there and hope that
we won't fail. It isn't blind to the realities of what is ongoing, but
it's something I think we can all be quite proud of as parliamentari-
ans for having pushed that hard. It's really because indigenous peo-
ples pushed us.

Regardless of the form of government of the day, this is a joint
project for everyone in Canada and something that we have to keep
moving forward on and make irreversible. This commission is part

of the process. It's very difficult to reverse a law and an organiza-
tion that is fully funded to hold people to account and hold people's
feet to the fire. We'll be the first government to be subject to it, but
this is more than just keeping the current government's feet to the
fire but also that of any subsequent government that would report to
govern Canada.

[Translation]
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Battiste.

This ends our second round of questions.

I'd like to thank the minister for being with us and answering our
questions on Bill C-29.
[English]

I'd also like to thank Ms. Ledgerwood, Mr. Garrow and Ms. Sun-

ga for being here today and for answering some of our questions as
we continue, in committee stage, to look at Bill C-29.

With that, I remind the committee that our next meeting is on
Monday the 17th—we won't be here next week—when we'll con-
tinue our study on Bill C-29.

Thank you very much, everyone.

With that, the meeting is adjourned.
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